
 

 
 

  
  Shropshire Council 

Legal and Democratic Services 
Shirehall 
Abbey Foregate 
Shrewsbury 
SY2 6ND 

   
Date:  14 April 2014 
 

 
Decision Making Session by Portfolio Holder for Children's Services 
 
Date: Thursday, 24 April 2014 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: Room 1S 131, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND 
  
You are requested to attend the above meeting.  
The Agenda is attached 
 
 
Claire Porter 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) 
 
 
Member of Decision Making Session by Portfolio Holder for Children's Services 
Ann Hartley   
 
 
Your Committee Officer is:  
 
Penny Chamberlain  Principal Committee Officer 
Tel:   01743 252729 
Email:   penny.chamberlain@shropshire.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AGENDA 

 
1  West Mercia Adoption Service (Pages 1 - 26) 

 
The Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services will consider a report by the Head of 
Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding. 
 
Contact: Tina Russell – 01743 254254 
 
Note:  Portfolio Holder Decision Making Sessions are not open to the 
public. However members of the public are welcome to submit a request to 
address or ask a question of the Member making the portfolio decision.  Any 
request should be submitted in writing to the Chief Executive at The Shirehall, 
Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, SY2 6ND by no later than 2 clear working days 
before the proposed Member Session.  This is to ensure that the individual 
member has sufficient time to decide whether or not to hear such persons and if 
so the arrangements to be made.  If you would like further details please 
telephone 01743 252729 or email penny.chamberlain@shropshire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 



Portfolio Holder Decision
Meeting

24 April 2014

10 am

Item

1

Public

WEST MERCIA ADOPTION SERVICE

Responsible Officer Tina Russell, Head of Children’s Social Care and Safeguarding
Email: tina.russell@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 254254 Fax:

1. Summary

Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin Councils have had a joint adoption service since 1998.
The joint service has a combined adoption budget of £1.1m. The majority of functions are
delivered in-house with the exception of marketing for the recruitment of prospective
adopters, birth parent support and counselling, and access to records from other authorities
for adopted adults, which are commissioned. This report details the work undertaken since
the last Portfolio Holder meeting on 12 September 2013 and outlines options for further
development.

2. Recommendations

Reasons for decision: to allow collaborative work to go forward.

The Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services is recommended to:-

(a) Approve the direction of the proposed future operating model for a West Mercia
Adoption Service.

(b) Confirm the intention to move to implementation of the operating model (option 2).

(c) Confirm the intention to move to Option 3 and agree that this decision be determined
by the Portfolio Holder in consultation with the Director of Children's Services.

(d) Agree that implementation, including preferred providers and preferred host authority,
be determined by the Portfolio Holder in consultation with the Director of Children's
Services.

REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

(NB This will include the following: Risk Management, Human Rights, Equalities,
Community, Environmental consequences and other Consultation)

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



2

3.1 Opportunities Appraisal

Increased number and choice of Adoptive Carers supporting speedier matching
of children to Adoptive carers.

Wider range of services for adoption support

More consistent training and choice of training events

Pooling of staff skills and expertise

Economies of scale

Bargaining power of a West Mercia brand

Consistency across the region in delivery of merged functions

Retained local accountability for some service that are currently performing very
well against national indicators

Consistent working to best practice across West Mercia

Involving staff and service users in the development of the new approach

No major legal implications

3.2 Risk Assessment

Different IT systems may impact on performance.

Staff turnover rate may increase if future is uncertain. Effective consultation will
be required with staff and trade unions regarding proposals for change. If there
are potential redundancies arising from the proposals a formal consultation period
of 45 days will be required. Potential liabilities for redundancy and retirement
costs would need to be considered.

Poor commissioning and implementation may result in service performance
declining.

Projected savings might not be made in individual authorities within the original
timeframe

4. Financial Implications

4.1 Financial savings under the preferred option (Option 2) could be made through a
reduction in staff costs and outsourcing some of the combined functions, however, a
forecast of activity costs based on future demand and indicative costs of outsourcing
have yet to be determined.

4.2 Savings could also be achieved through an increase in the number of adopters and
sharing adopters which would provide increased opportunities for placements of

Page 2



3

children who wait longer. For example across the four authorities we have currently
identified a cohort of 25 children considered to be harder to place due to age,
disability, ethnicity or sibling groups, and who therefore wait longer to be placed, with
an additional 10 children who have been in care longer than 21 months. If each
authority was able to place one more child in one of these categories, it would equate
to a saving of £72,000* per year in foster care payments for a possible 14 plus years.
This is not withstanding the benefits for the child which permanence through
adoption would represent.

(*This is based on an average cost of external and internal foster carer placement of
£2,000 per month).

4.3 The project is using the Adoption Reform Grant to the full to support the
transformation whilst still being able to look at base budget savings and will not
double count improvement in practice savings which are committed in the LAC
Action Plan.

4.5 A Needs Assessment has been undertaken to assist in identifying key characteristics
of children waiting for an adoptive home, prospective adopters, and the support
needs of adoptive families and birth families. This is appended to the Detailed
Business Case. The Assessment will inform the full equality impact assessment that
will be completed alongside the consultation. The findings will help to shape the
development of any joint services.

5. Background

5.1 Work has been ongoing for the past twelve months with Hereford and
Worcestershire councils to explore how the four authorities might bring together
their resources under a single management structure and develop a West Mercia
Adoption Service enabling all four authorities to deliver high quality Adoption
services and benefit from increased capacity and the economies of scale.

5.2 A detailed business case (appendix 1) explores the potential options for developing
a West Mercia Adoption Service. It recommends four options to look at how the
four West Mercia authorities can work collaboratively to meet the needs of looked
after children by improving the timeliness of placing them for adoption. It also
weighs the benefits, risks and financial implications for each option and considers
the views of stakeholders across the four West Mercia authorities - adopters, foster
carers, health representatives, Adoption Panel chairs/members and staff. Current
plans are to ensure the views of children and young people also shape the project
as it develops.

5.3 As the project has progressed its thinking around the options for future delivery has
developed. The four options outlined in the Business Case are a starting point, but
are not a limiter, and as implementation of the preferred option progresses the
Project Board may develop it into something more dynamic.

5.4 The Options to consider are listed below:

a) Option 1: Do nothing and stay 'as is', with each service maintaining its
existing service set up, using 3rd parties independently procured.

b) Option 2: Deliver some adoption functions within a single adoption service,
hosted by a lead West Mercia authority, with some specific functions
continuing to be delivered within the individual local authorities.

Page 3



4

c) Option 3: Deliver a single adoption service, incorporating all the adoption
services,hosted by a lead West Mercia authority.

d) Option 4: Contract out all adoption services (on a not for profit basis), eg, by
going into partnership with a voluntary organisation or establishing a staff
mutual.

5.5 The preferred option is Option 2. This would be the first phase of service
transformation which will lead to an Option 3 service model by 2016/17, if evidence
continues to support this as the overall preferred option. This first phase would also
allow time for the four authorities to better understand all best practice elements
between them and develop a West Mercia culture in order to then capitalise on it and
develop a fully integrated service model. It would also allow time to form
relationships with voluntary organisations.

5.6 The overall aim of the project is to develop a single West Mercia Adoption Service
which delivers a more efficient and effective service to a wider range of children, with
particular emphasis on improving the timeliness of placing children and young people
for adoption.

5.7 Under new powers provided to the Government under the Children and Families Bill
2013, local authorities that are not performing appropriately will have their role as
adoption agencies withdrawn. In addition, there is a longer term proposal in the
Government's 'Action Plan for Adoption: Tackling Delay' which proposes as a default
position that the recruitment and training of adopters will be transferred to voluntary
organisations.

5.8 The four local authorities in the West Mercia region - Herefordshire Council,
Worcestershire County Council, Telford & Wrekin Council and Shropshire Council -
recognise that working collaboratively provides a genuine opportunity to respond to
the national agenda and, following the success of a similar approach to establish a
West Mercia Youth Offending Service, came together in April 2013 to discuss the
possibility of joining forces to provide a single adoption service, which would
potentially include a voluntary partner.

5.9 By delivering a single service whilst maintaining functions at a regional and local
level, partners envisage achieving economies of scale and delivering a faster and
more cost efficient process of providing alternative permanent homes for children
across the West Mercia region.

6 Additional Information

6.1 A Communication Strategy is in place which includes a plan for wide consultation
with all stakeholders. Stakeholder reference groups across the four authorities for
adopters, foster carers, health representatives, Adoption panel chairs/members and
staff have been established and each stakeholder group has been consulted on the
options. Their views on the options have been considered and incorporated into the
options appraisal. Further work is planned to ensure the views of children and young
people shape any future service provision.

6.2 There has also been a stakeholder event with voluntary organisations interested in
providing services, or working in partnership. Their feedback has also contributed to
the Detailed Business Case.

Page 4



5

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does
not include items containing exempt or confidential information):

Portfolio Holder Decision report 12 September 2013

Key Decision: Yes

Included within Forward Plan: Yes

If a Key Decision and not included in the Forward Plan have the General
Exception or Special Urgency Procedures been complied with: Yes/No

Name and Portfolio of Executive Member responsible for this area of
responsibility:

Councillor Ann Hartley

Local Member:

All Members

Appendices:

Appendix 1 – Detailed Business Case

Page 5



6

Declaration of Interest

I have no interest to declare in respect of this report

Signed ………………………………… Date ………………………………………

NAME: …………………………………………………………………………………

PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR: ……………………………………………………….

I have to declare an interest in respect of this report

Signed ………………………………… Date ………………………………………

NAME: …………………………………………………………………………………

PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR: ……………………………………………………….

(Note: If you have an interest you should seek advice as to whether it is appropriate to
make a decision in relation to this matter.)

For the reasons set out in the report, I agree the recommendation(s) in the report entitled

……………………………………………….

Signed …………………………………………………………………………………………

Portfolio Holder for …………………………………………………………………………...

Date ………………………………………….

If you have any additional comment which you would want actioned in connection with your
decision you should discuss this with the report author and then set out your comment
below before the report and pro-forma is returned to Democratic Services for processing.

Additional comment : ………………………………………………………………………...

…………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………………………………………………………………….

Note: If you do not wish to approve the recommendations, or wish to make an alternative
decision, it is important that you consult the report author, Head of Legal and Democratic
Services, Chief Executive and the Head of Finance, Governance and Assurance (S151
Officer) and, if there are staffing implications the Head of Human Resources (or their
representatives) so that (1) you can be made aware of any further relevant considerations
that you should take into account before making the decision and (2) your reasons for the
decision can be properly identified and recorded, as required by law.

Note to Portfolio Holder: Your decision will now be published and communicated to all
Members of Council. If the decision falls within the criteria for call-in, it will not be
implemented until five working days have elapsed from publication.

Page 6



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 1 of 19

DOCUMENT PURPOSE

The Business Case documents the justification for undertaking a project. The Business Case

should provide sufficient information to the Project Board to enable them to make a judgement

about whether the project should go ahead based upon whether it is desirable (cost/benefit/risk

balance), viable (it can produce what is required) and achievable (the benefits can be

achieved).

PROJECT DETAILS

Project Name West Mercia Adoption Service

Project Manager Davinder Gill/Tracy Morton

Project Sponsor Laura Johnston

DOCUMENT DETAILS

Version 9

Version Date 28.03.14

Status Final

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Detailed Business Case explores the potential options for developing a West Mercia Adoption
Service. It recommends four options to look at how the four West Mercia authorities can work
collaboratively to meet the needs of looked after children by improving the timeliness of placing them
for adoption. It also weighs the benefits, risks and financial implications for each option and considers
the views of stakeholders across the four West Mercia authorities - adopters, foster carers, health
representatives, Adoption Panel chairs/members and staff. Current plans are to ensure the views of
children and young people also shape the project as it develops.

As the project has progressed its thinking around the options for future delivery has developed. The
four options outlined in the Business Case are a starting point, but are not a limiter, and as
implementation of the preferred option progresses the Project Board may develop it into something
more dynamic.

The preferred option is Option 2. This would be the first phase of service transformation which will
lead to an Option 3 service model by 2016/17, if evidence continues to support this as the overall
preferred option. This first phase would also allow time for the four authorities to better understand all
best practice elements between them and develop a West Mercia culture in order to then capitalise
on it and develop a fully integrated service model. It would also allow time to form relationships with
voluntary organisations.

Positive outcomes for the child and value for money are both fundamental principles underlying this
Business Case.

Summary of Recommendations:

It is recommended that:

Page 7



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 2 of 19

A data set is agreed and developed across the 4 authorities to better understand the reasons
why some children wait longer for adoption.

A data set is agreed and developed across the 4 authorities to better understand disruptions.

Further work is undertaken to provide a detailed costing of the functions delivered by each
authority.

2. PROJECT BACKGROUND

The overall aim of the project is to develop a single West Mercia Adoption Service which delivers a
more efficient and effective service to a wider range of children, at least maintaining if not improving
the existing best practice provision, and with particular emphasis on improving the timeliness of
placing children and young people for adoption.

Under new powers provided to the Government under the Children and Families Bill 2013, local
authorities that are not performing appropriately can have their role as adoption agencies withdrawn.

The four local authorities in the West Mercia region - Herefordshire Council, Worcestershire County
Council, Telford & Wrekin Council and Shropshire Council - recognise that working collaboratively
provides a genuine opportunity to respond to the national agenda. Following the success of a similar
approach to establish a West Mercia Youth Offending Service, they came together in April 2013 to
discuss the possibility of joining forces to provide a single adoption service, which would potentially
include a voluntary partner.

By delivering a single service whilst maintaining functions at a regional and local level, partners envisage
achieving economies of scale and delivering a faster and more cost efficient process of providing
alternative permanent homes for children across the West Mercia region.

The project is exploring the potential for reducing costs through better commissioning or joint
arrangements and strengthening management arrangements. The new service will at least maintain
the quality of current best practice provision, improve outcomes, whilst delivering savings based on
lower service costs arising from a more efficient staffing structure and economies of scale due to
aggregated workloads.

The project will support West Mercia local authorities Looked After Children Strategies and will enable
more children who are unable to live with their birth family to cease to be looked after and to live in
safe and loving adoptive homes. It is the intention that any new service will particularly benefit those
children who have additional needs or characteristics that can make it more difficult to find an
adoptive home.

The key objectives of the project are:

To retain local accountability and service delivery based on local need.
To maintain or improve outcomes for children, young people and adopters, building on the
strengths of existing services.

To improve efficiency through:
Streamlining management costs by creating a single service.
Streamlining service delivery via processes and pathways.
Ensuring better value from commissioning non-core functions.

To identify the most appropriate delivery arrangements for the single service.

Page 8



Detailed Business Case

3. NEEDS ANALYSIS

The full Needs Analysis is appended as Appendix 1, however, below

Current Demand

Looked After Children - Numbers

Looked After Children - Rate per 10,000

These figures do not include children in care who have achieved permanence outside of local
authority care via Special Guardianship or

The West Mercia picture of children in care shows Worcestershire as having the highest numbers and
Herefordshire having the lowest.
an increase in the trend from 2008 to 2014 (18
Shropshire seeing a decrease in the numbers from 2011 to 2012
Telford seeing a decrease from 2013 to 2014.

The majority of children adopted are under
very rare occasion that adopter is their existing foster carer.
has increased from 2010-11 to 2013

Children subject to an adoption plan

There were 169 children who were subject to an adoption plan as at 31
West Mercia region. Telford has the highest average percentage of looked after children who ceased
to be looked after who were adopted
between 2009 and 2013. Worcester
Shropshire have similar averages.

Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 3 of 19

The full Needs Analysis is appended as Appendix 1, however, below are the key highlights.

Numbers

Rate per 10,000

These figures do not include children in care who have achieved permanence outside of local
authority care via Special Guardianship or Residence Orders.

The West Mercia picture of children in care shows Worcestershire as having the highest numbers and
Herefordshire having the lowest. This reflects the child populations of the local authorities.

2008 to 2014 (18th February) for Herefordshire and Worcestershire,
a decrease in the numbers from 2011 to 2012 followed by a steady increase

g a decrease from 2013 to 2014.

The majority of children adopted are under 10 years old and mostly under 5 years old, except on the
very rare occasion that adopter is their existing foster carer. Across West Mercia the 0

11 to 2013-14 across all 4 LAs.

Children subject to an adoption plan

There were 169 children who were subject to an adoption plan as at 31st of March 2013 across the
Telford has the highest average percentage of looked after children who ceased

to be looked after who were adopted and the figures have been fairly consistent over the 5yrs
Worcestershire has the lowest over the same period,

Shropshire have similar averages. The reasons for this are multi-faceted and complex

West Mercia Adoption Service

are the key highlights.

These figures do not include children in care who have achieved permanence outside of local

The West Mercia picture of children in care shows Worcestershire as having the highest numbers and
This reflects the child populations of the local authorities. There is

Herefordshire and Worcestershire, with
followed by a steady increase and

10 years old and mostly under 5 years old, except on the
Across West Mercia the 0-4 years cohort

of March 2013 across the
Telford has the highest average percentage of looked after children who ceased

been fairly consistent over the 5yrs,
shire has the lowest over the same period, and Herefordshire and

faceted and complex.

Page 9



Detailed Business Case

Special Guardianship and Residence Orders

The number of children that ceased
Residence Order are:

Children Who Wait Longer for Placement

There were 11 (6.5%) children with disabilities across the four West Mercia
subject to an adoption plan as at 31
sibling groups whose placements commenced between 1
vary from year to year; at the end of Janu
sibling groups had increased but there
a BME background.

Although the percentage of children is small
longer to be matched. Statistical information alone will not give the richness that qualitative data can
give. Some details about the experiences of these
understanding of why their needs have not been met
the next year. Information about children who were not put forward for adoption on the basis that i
would be too hard to find a match
before a permanent stable care arrangement could be achi

Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 4 of 19

Residence Orders

The number of children that ceased to be looked after due to a Special Guardianship Order or

lacement

There were 11 (6.5%) children with disabilities across the four West Mercia
subject to an adoption plan as at 31st March 2013, 12 (7.1%) children from a BME background and 5
sibling groups whose placements commenced between 1st April 2012 and 31

the end of January 2014, compared to the previous year, the number of
increased but there was a smaller proportion of children with a disability and from

Although the percentage of children is small, it is very significant as these children sometimes wait
Statistical information alone will not give the richness that qualitative data can

ome details about the experiences of these children would be advantageous
why their needs have not been met by perhaps tracking some of these children over

Information about children who were not put forward for adoption on the basis that i
would be too hard to find a match and as such a child may be waiting an unreasonable
before a permanent stable care arrangement could be achieved would also be useful.

West Mercia Adoption Service

Special Guardianship Order or

There were 11 (6.5%) children with disabilities across the four West Mercia authorities who were
March 2013, 12 (7.1%) children from a BME background and 5

April 2012 and 31st March 2013. Figures
compared to the previous year, the number of

a smaller proportion of children with a disability and from

it is very significant as these children sometimes wait
Statistical information alone will not give the richness that qualitative data can

would be advantageous to gain a fuller
by perhaps tracking some of these children over

Information about children who were not put forward for adoption on the basis that it
unreasonable length of time

would also be useful.

Page 10



Detailed Business Case

It is recommended that a data set is agreed and developed across the four
understand the reasons why some children wait longer for adoption.

Disruptions

There are three types of disruption
short period after adoption due to a change in circumstances
aren’t able to meet the child’s needs, or some years later (typically in adolescence)
no requirement to collect data nationally or locally,
in the first 3 years as they have a duty to provide support. They may not know about the later
disruptions where children live in another local authority
this is necessary – and these children can have complex needs
placements.

Within this context in West Mercia the numbers of disruption
1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013, with
joint service in Shropshire and Telford and 3 children (2 families) from Worcestershire.
a realistic picture of the trend in disruptions it would be advantageous to collect da
years and to obtain experiences of children and families
needs have not been met.

It is recommended that a data set is agreed and dev
understand disruptions.

Adopters

Postcode maps have been produced, which show there is a large pocket of adopters in the main
towns of each local authority. The Shropshire/Telford joint adoption service is relatively very
successful in recruitment and has
approved adopters in Herefordshire
2013/14).

Analysis of recruitment activity for 1
the lowest conversion rate from the number of initial enquiries made to the number of applications
received, currently a rate of 13.2%, compared to Shropshire/Telford at 25.6% and Herefordshire at
36%. Worcestershire also have the lowest conversion from
enquiries leading to approved adopters, currently at 9.2% compared with 23% in Shropshire/Telf
and 38.6% in Herefordshire.

Projected Demand 2014-2016

Population Projections for Children

The population projections for children indicate that the 0
adoptions will come from) sees a generally increasing trend across the region, though Herefordshire

Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 5 of 19

It is recommended that a data set is agreed and developed across the four
understand the reasons why some children wait longer for adoption.

disruption – during introductions prior to being placed, within a relatively
short period after adoption due to a change in circumstances or where it emerges that the parents
aren’t able to meet the child’s needs, or some years later (typically in adolescence)
no requirement to collect data nationally or locally, placing authorities always know about disruptions

rst 3 years as they have a duty to provide support. They may not know about the later
disruptions where children live in another local authority that is responsible for taking them into care if

and these children can have complex needs which require expensive care

n West Mercia the numbers of disruption we know of are very low for the period
March 2013, with no disruptions in Herefordshire, 2 children (1 family) from the

joint service in Shropshire and Telford and 3 children (2 families) from Worcestershire.
a realistic picture of the trend in disruptions it would be advantageous to collect da

and to obtain experiences of children and families to gain a fuller understanding of

It is recommended that a data set is agreed and developed across the four

Postcode maps have been produced, which show there is a large pocket of adopters in the main
towns of each local authority. The Shropshire/Telford joint adoption service is relatively very

has over 50% of the adopters across the West Mercia Region (37
Herefordshire and Worcestershire combined, and 39 in

for 1st April 2012 to 31st March 2013 shows that Worcestershire has
the lowest conversion rate from the number of initial enquiries made to the number of applications
received, currently a rate of 13.2%, compared to Shropshire/Telford at 25.6% and Herefordshire at
36%. Worcestershire also have the lowest conversion from the number of initial enquiries to
enquiries leading to approved adopters, currently at 9.2% compared with 23% in Shropshire/Telf

for Children:

The population projections for children indicate that the 0-4 and 5-9 age groups (where the majority of
adoptions will come from) sees a generally increasing trend across the region, though Herefordshire

West Mercia Adoption Service

It is recommended that a data set is agreed and developed across the four authorities to better

during introductions prior to being placed, within a relatively
or where it emerges that the parents

aren’t able to meet the child’s needs, or some years later (typically in adolescence). Although there is
always know about disruptions

rst 3 years as they have a duty to provide support. They may not know about the later
is responsible for taking them into care if

which require expensive care

are very low for the period
no disruptions in Herefordshire, 2 children (1 family) from the

joint service in Shropshire and Telford and 3 children (2 families) from Worcestershire. In order to get
a realistic picture of the trend in disruptions it would be advantageous to collect data for at least 3

to gain a fuller understanding of why their

eloped across the four authorities to better

Postcode maps have been produced, which show there is a large pocket of adopters in the main
towns of each local authority. The Shropshire/Telford joint adoption service is relatively very

% of the adopters across the West Mercia Region (37
and Worcestershire combined, and 39 in Shropshire/Telford

shows that Worcestershire has
the lowest conversion rate from the number of initial enquiries made to the number of applications
received, currently a rate of 13.2%, compared to Shropshire/Telford at 25.6% and Herefordshire at

the number of initial enquiries to
enquiries leading to approved adopters, currently at 9.2% compared with 23% in Shropshire/Telford

9 age groups (where the majority of
adoptions will come from) sees a generally increasing trend across the region, though Herefordshire

Page 11



Detailed Business Case

and Telford & Wrekin are relatively stable
therefore, indicating that more children will need adoptive families going forward.

Looked After Children Projections

Looked After Children Projections (rate per 10,000):

Looked After Children projections for 2014/15 through to 2016/17 indicate a predicted increase year
on year in Shropshire and Worcestershire and a predicted decrease year on year for Herefordshire
and Telford & Wrekin.

Worcestershire's projection is bas
is an action plan with mitigating actions and a planned change to project days looked after rather than
LAC numbers. Shropshire's projection is
and, therefore, does not take into account any changes in the service’s approach to managing LAC,
prevention strategies in place, etc
on work/actions in place to mitigate n
Stepdown Work. Herefordshire's projections are also based on actions
numbers. The West Mercia authorities will need to agree how future projections are calculated going
forward.

The number of LAC aged 0-9 as at 18
The combined number of projected LAC
increase over the next 3 years:

2014/15 - 678 (44% of the

2015/16 - 703 (44% of the combined

2016/17 - 731 (45% of the combined WM LAC projection for this year)

Although the numbers of Looked After Children are generally going up in the
commissioning activities taking place at individual local authority level which are contributing to
predicted reduction in numbers, for example, changes in the early help offer, reaction to the Troubled
Families Programme and increased support to children and young people on the edge of care.

More work needs to be done to better understand the
delivering the various stages of the adoption process. However, taking into account the requi

Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 6 of 19

relatively stable, with particular increases in Worcestershire and Shropshire,
therefore, indicating that more children will need adoptive families going forward.

Looked After Children Projections (Numbers):

Looked After Children Projections (rate per 10,000):

Looked After Children projections for 2014/15 through to 2016/17 indicate a predicted increase year
on year in Shropshire and Worcestershire and a predicted decrease year on year for Herefordshire

Worcestershire's projection is based on 'worst case scenario' if no mitigating action
lan with mitigating actions and a planned change to project days looked after rather than
Shropshire's projection is also based on 'worst case scenario' if no

into account any changes in the service’s approach to managing LAC,
prevention strategies in place, etc. Telford's projection is based on a 5% reduction each year, based

to mitigate numbers, eg, Strengthening Families, Systemic Practice and
Stepdown Work. Herefordshire's projections are also based on actions being
numbers. The West Mercia authorities will need to agree how future projections are calculated going

9 as at 18th February 2014 across the West Mercia authorities was 664.
The combined number of projected LAC aged 0-9 for the West Mercia region indicates an overall

678 (44% of the combined WM LAC projection for this year)

(44% of the combined WM LAC projection for this year)

(45% of the combined WM LAC projection for this year)

Although the numbers of Looked After Children are generally going up in the
commissioning activities taking place at individual local authority level which are contributing to
predicted reduction in numbers, for example, changes in the early help offer, reaction to the Troubled

creased support to children and young people on the edge of care.

More work needs to be done to better understand the difference between authorities in speed of
delivering the various stages of the adoption process. However, taking into account the requi

West Mercia Adoption Service

ticular increases in Worcestershire and Shropshire,
therefore, indicating that more children will need adoptive families going forward.

Looked After Children projections for 2014/15 through to 2016/17 indicate a predicted increase year
on year in Shropshire and Worcestershire and a predicted decrease year on year for Herefordshire

ed on 'worst case scenario' if no mitigating action was taken. There
lan with mitigating actions and a planned change to project days looked after rather than

'worst case scenario' if no action was taken
into account any changes in the service’s approach to managing LAC,

Telford's projection is based on a 5% reduction each year, based
umbers, eg, Strengthening Families, Systemic Practice and

being in place to reduce
numbers. The West Mercia authorities will need to agree how future projections are calculated going

February 2014 across the West Mercia authorities was 664.
for the West Mercia region indicates an overall

LAC projection for this year)

LAC projection for this year)

(45% of the combined WM LAC projection for this year)

Although the numbers of Looked After Children are generally going up in the West Mercia, there are
commissioning activities taking place at individual local authority level which are contributing to some
predicted reduction in numbers, for example, changes in the early help offer, reaction to the Troubled

creased support to children and young people on the edge of care.

difference between authorities in speed of
delivering the various stages of the adoption process. However, taking into account the requirement

Page 12



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 7 of 19

to increase the pool of adopters and match more children more quickly, there is no evidence that
indicates a reduction in the number of social workers required.

Current Service Provision

Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin councils have had a joint adoption service since 1998. This service
came out of Local Government Reorganisation with Telford & Wrekin separating from Shropshire, but
keeping some joint services. The majority of functions are delivered in-house with the exception of
marketing for the recruitment of prospective adopters, birth parent support and counselling, and
access to records from other authorities for adopted adults, which are commissioned.

All of Worcestershire's adoption service functions are delivered in-house with the exception of adopter
support groups which are commissioned. Worcestershire includes more functions under the umbrella
of its Adoption Service as a result of the full-service redesign in 2013.

All of Herefordshire's adoption service functions are delivered in-house.

Current Budget

WCC
Shropshire
/ Telford* HCC Total

Costs £000's £000's £000's £000's

Establishment staff costs 1,052 579 370 2,001

Direct operational Costs 133 145 69 347

Direct Costs 1,185 724 439 2,348

Further work is required to provide a more detailed breakdown of direct costs (above) and also
indirect costs (eg inter-agency costs, adoption allowances etc).

Current Staffing Figures

No. of FTEs

Herefordshire 9.73

Shropshire/Telford 21.47

Worcestershire 30.93*

Total 62.13

*Includes family-finding and post-order additional services

It is recommended that further work is undertaken to provide detailed costings of the functions
delivered by each Local Authority.

Page 13



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 8 of 19

4. BUSINESS OPTIONS

The Outline Business Case identified five potential options as listed below:

Option 1 Do nothing and stay 'as is', with each service maintaining its existing service set
up, using third parties independently procured.

Option 2 Deliver some key functions together and maintain delivery of other functions within
individual authorities.

Option 3 Deliver a core adoption service across West Mercia, with commissioned non-core
services based on local needs.

Option 4 Deliver a single adoption service, incorporating all core and non-core services,
delivered by a lead West Mercia authority.

Option 5 Contract out all core and non-core services (on a not for profit basis), eg, by going
into partnership with a voluntary organisation or establishing a staff mutual.

When considering Options 2 and 3 during the options appraisal process, it was felt that these options
were fundamentally similar, therefore, these have been considered as a refined option.

The revised Options are:

Option 1 Do nothing and stay 'as is', with each service maintaining its existing service set up,
using third parties independently procured.

Option 2 Deliver some adoption functions within a single adoption service, hosted by a lead
West Mercia authority, with some specific functions continuing to be delivered within
the individual local authorities.

Option 3 Deliver a single adoption service, incorporating all the adoption services, hosted by a
lead West Mercia authority.

Option 4 Contract out all adoption services (on a not for profit basis), eg, by going into
partnership with a voluntary organisation or establishing a staff mutual.

5. OPTIONS APPRAISAL

The options appraisal has been developed through work with the Project's Service User Pathway
workstream, a Commissioning Needs Analysis and a financial appraisal of current and predicted
expenditure across the four local authorities. Legal services and human resources have been
involved and provided challenge and comments in relation to the options.

Stakeholder reference groups with adopters, foster carers, health representatives, Adoption panel
chairs/members and staff have been held across the four authorities. Their views on the options have
been considered and incorporated into the options appraisal. Further work is planned to ensure the
views of children and young people shape any future service provision.

OPTION 1

Do nothing and stay 'as is', with each service maintaining its existing service set up, using third
parties independently procured.

Page 14



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 9 of 19

Option 1 is not deemed to be a viable option as the benefits would be negligible, the project
objectives and desired outcomes would not be achieved, nor would it deliver the Government's

Adoption reform agenda. Stakeholders acknowledge the Government agenda and understand the
rationale for the need to change, therefore, this option is not agreeable to stakeholders.

In light of the Adoption reform agenda and the revised adoption scorecard threshold indicators,
local authorities will not be able to keep pace with adopter recruitment and the placement of
children if services do not evolve and adapt. Retaining the status quo would also mean that
financial savings would not be made and the current level of service performance may not be
maintained or improved.

OPTION 2

Deliver some key functions together through a new single entity established as the West Mercia
Adoption Partnership as below, maintaining delivery of other specific functions within individual
authorities. This model is a refined version of the original Option 2 (deliver some key functions
together) and Option 3 (deliver a core service across West Mercia with commissioned non-core
services based on local needs).

The Services in scope for the new single entity would be:

Non-agency adoption (step parents) and inter country

Adopter recruitment and front door

Training of adopters

Support for adopted adults

Post order support

Birth family support

These have been chosen because:

It has been established that there are economies of scale that can be achieved quickly by
combining the resources of the 4 authorities to deliver these particular functions.

This will establish a 'West Mercia' brand to enable more effective marketing and recruitment.

Adopters welcomed the flexibility that choice for accessing training and support would provide.

This will enable the provision of a more holistic and responsive adoption service.

It provides the option to contract on a not for profit basis by going into partnership with
voluntary organisations around these functions and testing the market for Option 3.

The services out of scope (to continue to be delivered by the individual local authorities) would be:

Family-Finding (including child permanence planning/preparation of the child/matching).

Assessment of potential adopters.

Panel and Adoption Decision-Making.

Post-approval support to adopters including placement of child and support to point of
Adoption Order.

Adoption Financial Support.

Page 15



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 10 of 19

These were chosen to continue to be delivered by the individual authorities because:

These are the functions where the local authority remains most accountable for their own
children.

The practice in each local authority differs within these functions and more work is required to
understand the elements that contribute to best practice in each authority.

The four local authorities need to better understand the resources that would be required within
these functions to deliver the best outcomes.

The market is less well-developed in the provision of these functions by an agency other than
the accountable local authority.

Cost to Deliver the Service

Under this option the budgets for the combined functions would be pooled and managed by the West
Mercia Adoption Partnership. This would be established as a new single entity, hosted by a lead
authority on behalf of the four local authorities.

It is proposed that the four local authorities use a proportion of their Adoption Reform Grant to fund a
dedicated Transformation Manager for 12 months to support implementation.

Staff currently involved in the work associated within these functions would be seconded to the West
Mercia Adoption Partnership within their existing terms and conditions, pending any re-commissioning
of the functions, or the local authority will provide the pro-rata budget for the function. However, this
would be subject to formal consultation with staff.

Functions retained in each authority:

Assessment of potential adopters

Child Pathway: permanency plan, family finding, preparation of child

Panel and Adoption Decision-Making

Post Panel support including placement of child and support to the point Adoption Order is
made

Process/Team/Strategic Management

Budgets and staff for these functions will be retained by each authority and the delivery of these
functions will remain the responsibility of each authority.

This is the first phase of service transformation which we anticipate will lead to an Option 3 service
model. By combining these functions they would be more attractive to potential providers and could
more easily be contracted out on a not for profit basis, if soft market testing showed this to be a more
cost effective way to deliver them. This first phase would also allow time for the four authorities to
better understand all best practice elements between us and develop a 'West Mercia Adoption
Service' culture in order to then capitalise on it and develop a fully integrated service model (option 3).

Funding would need to be made available in 2014/15 and 2015/16 to recruit a temporary dedicated
Transformation Manager to manage the West Mercia Adoption Partnership and lead the transition to
a fully integrated service (option 3). This would ensure the project's ability to deliver within timescale
and provide a consistent focus. This option would, therefore, be considered as an 'invest to save'
initiative.

Page 16



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 11 of 19

The following identified gaps will be the immediate focus for the Transformation Manager:

Future demand over next 3 years - a robust assessment of those aspects of the service which
will need to be enhanced or reduced.

Forecast of activity costs based on future demand over the next 3 years.

Adoption Partnership, identifying potential savings.

Financial Savings

Financial savings under this option could be made through a reduction in management costs and
commissioning some of the combined functions, however, a forecast of activity costs based on future
demand and indicative costs of contracting out on a not for profit basis have yet to be determined.

Savings could also be achieved through an increase in the number of adopters and sharing adopters
which would provide increased opportunities for placements of children who wait longer. For example
across the four authorities we have currently identified a cohort of 25 children who wait longer to be
placed due to age, disability, ethnicity or sibling groups, with an additional 10 children who have been
in care longer than 21 months. If each authority was able to place one more child in one of these
categories, it would equate to a saving of £72,000* per year in foster care payments for a possible 14
plus years. This is not withstanding the benefits for the child which permanence through adoption
would represent.

* This is based on an average cost of external and internal foster carer placement of £2,000 per
month, and so savings vary across authorities.

Expected Benefits

Increased number and choice of Adoptive Carers.

Speedier matching.

Wider range of services for adoption support

More consistent training and choice of training events

Pooling of staff skills and expertise

Economies of scale

Bargaining power of a West Mercia brand

Consistency across the region in delivery of merged functions

Retained local accountability

Consistent working to best practice across West Mercia

Involving staff and service users in the development of the new approach

No major legal implications

Risks

Different IT systems may impact on performance.

Staff turnover rate may increase if future is uncertain.

Poor commissioning and implementation may result in service performance declining.

Projected savings might not be made in individual authorities within the original timeframe

Considerations

Consultation timescales with staff and trade unions.

Differences in terms and conditions of staff.

Page 17



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 12 of 19

Lead authority would need to comply with their standing orders and financial regulations in
relation to procurement rules.

Shropshire/Telford's marketing and recruitment contract with Ontrac ceases in March 2015.

Stakeholder Feedback

Feedback from stakeholder consultation on this option indicates that stakeholders felt this option
would provide a wider choice of resources in relation to placements for children, opportunities to work
collaboratively to develop and deliver preparation training for adopters and more holistic flexible
adoption support including services to birth families. The joint commissioning of marketing and
recruitment of adopters was viewed very positively. Overall stakeholders felt this option could provide
economics of scale and opportunities for skill and resource sharing.

However, stakeholders also expressed concern that delivering some functions within individual
authorities whilst delivering others together through a West Mercia Adoption Partnership had the
potential to create a 'disjointed service' which could create confusion and build in delay for service
users. They also felt that there could be a negative impact on service delivery during the
implementation phase of the project. These concerns could be addressed through a risk
management approach during implementation.

OPTION 3

Deliver a single adoption service, incorporating all adoption services, delivered by the West Mercia
Adoption Partnership, hosted by a lead West Mercia authority.

West Mercia Adoption Partnership as single employer

Single entity, fully integrated single adoption service delivering all adoption functions.

Shared Governance arrangements with clear agreements between the 4 local authorities to
clarify lines of accountability for management of resources, benefits and risks

Commissioning arrangements with any other organisation (egg voluntary organisation) fully
integrated into arrangement – eg, for hard to place children and support services.

One ‘brand’, one culture, consistent good practice, shared aims and vision, and one set of
procedures.

Integrated IT system.

One route from marketing partner into the Adoption Partnership.

Shared Panel arrangements.

Cost to Deliver the Service and Financial Savings

The cost to deliver this service is unknown at present. It is anticipated that by combining and
delivering some functions together under a West Mercia Adoption Partnership, and
commissioning those combined functions which would be more cost effective to be delivered by
another/single provider (Option 2), the West Mercia authorities would be better placed to make
the transition to this option. This would involve transferring those functions which were retained
in each individual authority under Option 2 into a single service. Until Option 2 is implemented
the cost to deliver this option is unknown, therefore, the financial savings cannot be identified at
this stage.

However, ongoing savings could be achieved through an increase in the number of adopters and
sharing of adopters which would provide increased opportunities for placements of children who wait
longer, as outlined under Option 2.

Page 18



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 13 of 19

Expected Benefits

Best practice in each authority across functions could result in a gold standard service.

Pooling of skills and expertise.

Economies of scale

Reduction in costs

Bargaining power of a West Mercia brand

Regional service delivered locally

Increased number and choice of families.

Speedier matching.

Wider range of services for adoption support

More choice and range for placements.

More frequent training and choice of training events for adopters.

Risks

The implementation timescales are too short to allow the consultation and restructure required in this
option, in particular in relation to TUPE and recruitment/redeployment, the integration of procedures
and IT systems and commissioning. The risks to pursuing this option at this stage are therefore:

Staff turnover rate may increase

Decline in service performance (local authorities will remain legally accountable for their
performance in relation to successfully finding permanent families for children in their area)

Savings not made - short term increase in costs particularly around IT

Increased demand at a time of upheaval so demand will be unmet

Poor commissioning - risk of wrong service / service which is not fit for purpose being
delivered.

Considerations

Timescales for consultation with staff and trade unions.

Differences in terms and conditions of staff.

Lead authority would need to comply with their standing orders and financial regulations in
relation to procurement rules.

Stakeholder Feedback

Feedback from stakeholder consultation on this option indicates that stakeholders felt that this option
could provide a streamlined, consistent service for children and adopters. They felt it would be
advantageous to have a lead manager that would have an overview of all children / adopters across
the region which would support appropriate family matching. Offering adopters a choice in respect of
when and where to attend training and panel was also seen as beneficial, supporting the 'adopter led'
ethos in relation to the new two stage assessment process.

There was some concern that this option represents a 'big change' and stakeholders questioned if it
was achievable within the proposed implementation timescale. Developing a shared identity within
timescale was raised as an issue in several groups who felt the change management process for staff
and stakeholders needed to be given appropriate time in order to promote a smooth service
transition and consistent service delivery from the outset.

Page 19



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 14 of 19

Some concerns were expressed about potential inconsistencies across the four local authorities in
relation to pursuing adoption for the widest range of children, however, stakeholders felt that as long
as a shared ethos was developed and agreed in order to promote consistent service delivery these
could be addressed.

Overall, stakeholders felt that whilst this model could meet the project's objectives, it may be more
achievable to move to Option 2 in the first instance, which could be a 'stepping stone' towards
implementation of Option 3 which was felt to be an ambitious and desirable service delivery model for
the future.

OPTION 4

Contract out all adoption services (on a not for profit basis), eg, by going into partnership with a
voluntary organisation or establishing a staff mutual.

An event with voluntary organisations in liaison with the CVAA was held in September 2013 to test

out which providers may be interested in working in partnership with us and how. Barnados,
Adoption UK, Adoption Focus and St Francis' Children's Society expressed an interest in working
with us and exploring how this might be done once future demand and cost is clearer.

Potentially, smaller voluntary organisations could work together in partnership to deliver the various
functions as a consortium. Section 3(4) of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 states that "A local
authority may provide any of the requisite facilities by securing their provision by (a) registered
adoption societies, or (b) other persons who are within a description prescribed by regulations."

However, as the option to contract out all core and non-core services in their entirety was
deemed to be too big a step to take for the West Mercia authorities at this stage and therefore
considered to be a longer term option, no further soft or hard market testing has been conducted.
The cost to deliver this service and the financial savings it could make are unknown for similar
reasons identified under Option 3.

Expected Benefits

Potential to bring in new ideas/deliver services more innovatively

Economies of scale

Risks

Responsibility retained but less control over how services are delivered and managed

Potential decline in service performance

Quality of staff not guaranteed

Staff turnover rate may increase prior to transfer

Providers may over promise and under deliver leading to poor performance and
safeguarding issues for children and young people

Increased demand at a time of upheaval so demand will be unmet

Poor commissioning - risk of wrong service / service which is not fit for purpose being
delivered.

Considerations

Timecales of consultation with staff and trade unions.

Page 20



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 15 of 19

May need to lean services and make staff reductions to make the service more attractive to
potential providers

Possible implications for staff pensions

Complex commissioning and procurement process - external expertise may be required.

Who would hold/manage the contract/partnership agreement.

Robust market testing would need to be undertaken and a cost/benefit analysis undertaken to
determine who is in the market, what could be delivered, would it cost less.

Staff TUPE process and timescales

Stakeholder Feedback

Stakeholders were unsure about this option, feeling it was a 'very different vision to get your head
around'. They were concerned that this model could create loss of consistency and a possible lack of
local relationships with children's social workers in the local authorities. In addition, they felt that local
authorities could 'lose control' resulting in a loss of continuity for the child.

On a positive note they felt that it could provide a more flexible service which would reduce
bureaucracy with more scope for innovation.

6. PREFERRED OPTION

Option 1 is not deemed to be a viable option as the benefits would be negligible, the project
objectives and desired outcomes would not be achieved, nor would it deliver the Government's
Adoption reform agenda.

Option 2 has significant benefits. It is anticipated that through combining and delivering some
functions together under a West Mercia Adoption Partnership and commissioning those combined
functions which would be more cost effective to be delivered by another/single provider, the West
Mercia authorities would be better placed to make the transition to Option 3 (fully integrated service
model) in 2016/17. This first phase of transformation would also allow time for the four authorities to
better understand good practice between them and develop a West Mercia culture in order to then
capitalise on it and develop a fully integrated service model (Option 3). It would also allow time to
form relationships with voluntary organisations.

Progressing straight to Option 3 at this stage would incur a high number of risks which would
outweigh the benefits.

Option 4 is deemed to be too big a step to take for the West Mercia authorities at this stage because
of all the risks outlined for Option 3 and also because the market is untested, and is, therefore,
considered to be a longer term option. The risks also outweigh the benefits of progressing straight to
this option.

For these reasons, and taking into consideration feedback from stakeholders on each option, the

preferred option is Option 2 for 2014/15 with transition to Option 3 in 2016/17 if the evidence
continues to support this as the preferred option.

7. EXPECTED BENEFITS

The project will maintain and improve the quality of current provision and improve outcomes whilst
making financial efficiencies. Reducing the length of time taken in the “end to end” process of the
adoption journey, ie, from initial inquiry to a child being placed for adoption, will minimise the impact
of delays for both the children and adopters. Whilst operational efficiencies will be achieved through

Page 21



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 16 of 19

the pooling of resources, the organisational changes expect to improve on the quality of the current
provision across the region.

Savings could be achieved through an increase in the number of adopters and sharing adopters
which would provide increased opportunities for placements of children who wait longer. For example
across the four authorities we have currently identified a cohort of 25 children who wait longer to be
placed due to age, disability, ethnicity or sibling groups, with an additional 10 children who have been
in care longer than 21 months. If each authority was able to place one more child in one of these
categories, it would equate to a saving of £72,000 per year in foster care payments for a possible 14
plus years. This is not withstanding the benefits for the child which permanence through adoption
would represent.

In particular, the project will achieve the following outcomes:

Retained local accountability and services based on local need.

A reduction in the length of time taken in the 'end-to-end' adoption process, ie, from initial
inquiry to a child being placed.

A reduction in the overall cost of adoption for the four authorities across a number of different
budgets.

Children waiting for adoption will be matched more quickly and placed with adoptive families
sooner, particularly those with a disability or from a BME background.

Children’s social workers will have increased choice of potential adopters to enable the
successful matching of children.

The four authorities will be assisted to meet new Government requirements on timescales.

Swifter and more effective assessment, training, approval and support for adopters.

8. NEGATIVE IMPACT

Stakeholders may perceive the decision to progress to Option 2 with the future potential to progress
to Option 3 as building in two phases of change as opposed to being bold and moving directly to
Option 3.

Some stakeholders expressed anxiety that Option 2 could create a disjointed service, creating delay
and dissatisfaction for service users.

9. TIMESCALES

Key Milestone By When

Detailed Business Case approved by each WM Cabinet 24th April 2014

Appoint Transformation Manager End May 2014

Develop Implementation Plan for Option 2 End June 2014

Deliver Implementation Plan for Option 2 July – October 2014

Option 2 West Mercia Adoption Partnership operational November 2014

Evaluation and updated Options Appraisal for Option 3 April 2015

Transition to Option 3 2016/17

10. PROJECT COSTS 2014-16

The majority of the work involved in designing and implementing the preferred option is likely to fall to
existing staff across the four authorities, including project management, HR, Finance, Legal,
Commissioning, Procurement, IT, Service User Pathways and Communications support.

Page 22



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 17 of 19

In addition, in 2014/15 and 2015/16 a dedicated Transformation Manager would be required to
manage the West Mercia Adoption Partnership and lead the transition to a fully integrated service
(Option 3), if the evidence continues to support this as the preferred option.

11. FINANCIAL IMPACT

Delivering the preferred option would require an investment and initial increase in costs due to the
appointment of a Transformation Manager.

Combining the recruitment activity of adopters would result in an increase in the number of adopters
beyond our internal needs. This would mean that the West Mercia Adoption Partnership would be in
a position to sell our adopters (provide inter-agency placements) to other local authorities at a cost of
£27,000 per placement (based on the current inter agency fee), thereby generating an income.

The project may deliver additional income streams through traded services provided to other local
authorities where opportunities exist to develop expertise and capacity to provide specific services.

12. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

Funding for the project will be provided by partner contributions through staff time in kind and a
pooled budget made up of a contribution from each authority's Adoption Reform Grant, which can
specifically be used for adoption transformation.

13. PROJECT RISKS

Ref. Risk Mitigation Status

WMA1 Conflict between the project's
vision/objectives and the strategic
direction of each individual
adoption service or authority.

Monitor throughout the life of the project
via Project Board and Steering Group
which meet monthly and promote open
and honest working relationships.

Medium

WMA2 Change in leadership in any of the
authorities could lead to buy-in to
the project being lost.

Monitor throughout the life of the project
via Project Board and Steering Group on
a monthly basis.

Medium

WMA3 Lack of stakeholder support. Communications strategy.

Communications plan.

Consultation framework.

Staff engagement channels/events.

Dedicated HR and Comms resource
in place.

Medium

WMA4 Lack of resources to deliver the
project effectively and within
timescale.

Project management and governance
arrangements in place.

Clearly defined roles, responsibilities
and accountabilities agreed.

Steering Group and Project
Board will be kept informed of any
personnel changes that might have a
detrimental impact on the project's
success.

Use of Adoption Reform Grant to add
capacity as and when required.

Medium

WMA5 Ability to resolve complex issues
such as IT within timescale.

ICT, Property Services and other
identified specialist support will be

Medium

Page 23



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 18 of 19

Ref. Risk Mitigation Status

involved in the emerging design of the
new service and the scoping of its ICT,
telephony, property, etc, requirements.

WMA6 Loss of key quality staff through
the change process.

Identify key operational roles/people.

Staff consultation and engagement.

Dedicated HR resource in place.

Medium

WMA7 Under the Children and Families
Bill, the Secretary of State will
have the power to direct LAs to
arrange for the recruitment,
assessment and approval of
prospective adopters to be carried
out by one or more other adoption
agencies.

Detailed Business Case

Stakeholder engagement

Low

WMA8 Target savings may not be
achievable across the board.

Detailed Business Case

Due Diligence

Project Plan

Stakeholder engagement

Risk register

Medium

WMA9 Quality of service provision may
deteriorate during development of
the new service.

Robust commissioning process

Staff engagement and consultation

Regular performance monitoring

Due Diligence

Management oversight

Medium

14. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

The project aims to improve outcomes for children and young people aged 0-18 and adopters over
the age of 21 regardless of disability, gender, race, religion/belief, sexual orientation or gender
reassignment. It also aims to improve outcomes for birth parents.

Could this project have a disproportionate impact on
the Protected Groups listed below?

Positive Negative Neutral

Age

Children (0 – 15 years) X

Young People (16 – 24 years) X

Older People (50+ years) X

Disability

(e.g. people who have mental health, physical, sensory,
learning and/or other disabilities)

X

Gender

Male X

Female X

Race

(E.g. Asian, Chinese, Gypsy Roma Travellers). X

Religion or Belief

(e.g. Christian, Muslim, Jewish, Sikh) X

Sexual Orientation

lesbian, gay, bisexual
Gender Reassignment

X

Page 24



Detailed Business Case - West Mercia Adoption Service

Page 19 of 19

Pregnancy and Maternity X

15. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Needs Analysis

WMAS Needs
Analysis UPDATED 26.2.14.docx

AMENDMENT HISTORY

Document Owner: Davinder Gill

Version
Number

Date Reason for Amendment

V1 14.2.14 Original

V2 19.2.14 Amendments following WM Adoption Steering Group

V3 21.2.14 Further amendments from WM Adoption Steering Group

V4 28.2.14 Amendments following WM Adoption Project Board

V5 7.3.14 Further amendments from WM Adoption Project Board

V6 14.3.14
Further amendments from WM Adoption Project Board and
amendments from WM Adoption Working Group

V7 19.3.14
Further amendments following West Mercia Adoption Steering
Group

V8 27.3.14
Amendments incorporating firmed up financial information from
Shropshire

V9 28.03.14 Amendments to financial information

APPROVALS

Name Date Version

WM Adoption Project Board 7.3.14 V5

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 West Mercia Adoption Service
	1A West Mercia Adoption Service Business Case


